#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

In Re:

DAVID D. PERRY, a suspended member of

The West Virginia State Bar

Bar No.: 7881 Supreme Ct No.: 19-1180

I.D. No.: 19-03-543



#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Now comes the Petitioner, David D. Perry, proceeding Pro Se, as a suspended member of the West Virginia State Bar, and hereby submits the following for consideration of this Honorable Court in the above-styled case.

#### **Procedural History**

Formal charges in this matter were filed against Petitioner with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia on or about December 3, 2010, and served upon him by legal noticed published in West Virginia and Nevada for three (3) consecutive weeks during the month of March 2011. The Statement of charges alleged violations of Rules 1.7(b), 1.16(d), 3.5 (c), 8.1(a), 8.4(c), and 8.4(d).

On or about May 19, 2011, the matter proceeded to hearing in Williamson, West Virginia before a Hearing Panel Subcommittee. Petitioner did not appear. During the hearing complainant Christina Cline offered false testimony under oath, failed to disclose that she had been directed by the Williamson Police Department and West Virginia State Police to lie, and did not disclose that the two law enforcement agencies had provided her (complainant) with a recording device and tapes for the purpose of recording petitioner. Office of Disciplinary Counsel attorney Jessica Donahue was 100% aware of these facts but did not illicit or introduce into evidence via questioning of complainant under oath.

On or about August 25, 2011, the Hearing Panel Subcommittee issued its recommendation in the matter and filed with the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia a

"Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee." The Court concurred with the findings of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee that Petitioner had violated Rules 1.7(b), 1.16(d), 3.5 (c), 8.1(a), 8.4(c), and 8.4(d).

On or about December 1, 2011, the West Virginia Court of Appeals adopted the recommendation of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee (HPS) in the above-referenced matter, holding that: (1) Petitioner's law license be suspended indefinitely; (2) Petitioner be required to petition for reinstatement pursuant to Rule 3.32. of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure; (3) Petitioner not be permitted to seek reinstatement to the practice of law for a period of three years; (4) upon reinstatement, Petitioner's practice be supervised for a period of two years by an attorney agreed upon between the Office of Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter referred to as "ODC") and Petitioner; (5) prior to petitioning for reinstatement, Petitioner is required to undergo an independent psychiatric evaluation to determine fitness to practice law and be required to comply with any stated treatment protocol stated by the evaluator; and (6) Petitioner be ordered to reimburse the Lawyer Disciplinary Board the cost of the proceedings.

On or about September 15, 2014, Petitioner repaid in full the Lawyer Disciplinary Board for the costs of the investigation and all proceedings related to suspension the petitioner's license to practice law, prior to petitioning the Court for reinstatement.

On or about December 21, 2015, Petitioner filed his first Verified Petition for reinstatement. The matter proceeded to hearing on March 6, 2017. Petitioner was represented by attorney Richard Weston. Multiple exhibits were admitted into evidence and the Hearing Panel Subcommittee heard testimony from Judge Jay Hoke, Judge David Pancake, community leader and businessman Chris Miller, as well as the Petitioner. The Office of Disciplinary called neither Dr. Bobby Miller nor any witness. After thoughtful consideration, the Hearing Panel Subcommittee found that based upon the evidence presented that Petitioner had met his burden of proving he presently possessed the integrity, moral character and legal competence to resume the practice of law. Accordingly, the HPS recommended Petitioner's Verified Petition for Reinstatement to the practice of law be granted. Office of Disciplinary Counsel Attorney Jessica Donahue subsequently submitted a report to the Court also recommending Petitioner's reinstatement, in fact rendering her opinion that Petitioner was highly remorseful and totally

rehabilitated. Neither Petitioner's counsel nor the Office of Disciplinary Counsel objected to the recommendation of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee that Petitioner be reinstated.

On or about August 30, 2017, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia entered an Order, absent opinion or reason, stating it did not agree with the recommendation of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee, thus denying Petitioner's first Verified Petition for Reinstatement to resume the practice of law.

On or about October 2, 2017, now without counsel and proceeding pro se, Petitioner filed a Petition for reconsideration.

On or about October 3, 2017, the Deputy Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals advised the Petitioner in writing that neither the Rules of Appellate Procedure, nor the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary procedure, permit the filing of any request for reconsideration and that the Clerk's office considered the matter closed.

On or about December 27, 2019, Petitioner filed his second Verified Petition for Reinstatement to Practice Law in West Virginia with the Clerk of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. Prior to filing said document Petitioner either provided or directed current employment and income documentation to the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, as well as updated FBI and Nevada State Department of Public Safety background checks.

On or about June 18, 2020, after flying from Nevada two days prior, Petitioner sat for a sworn statement, conducted by Office of Disciplinary Chief Counsel Rachael Cipoletti, at the ODC office in Charleston, West Virginia. The parties had previously scheduled said sworn statement for March, April, and May, 2020, but rescheduled each time due to pandemic restrictions in Nevada and West Virginia.

On or about September 14, 2020, Petitioner filed "MOTION TO SEAL ATTACHED INDEPENDENT PSYCHOLOGICAL EVALUATION" of Dr. David Frederick, with the Clerk of the Court.

On or about September 18, 2020, Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel responded to the above-referenced filing, stating no objection to Petitioner's "MOTION TO SEAL ATTACHED INDEPENDENT PSYCHOLOGICAL EVALUATION" of Dr. David Frederick, with the Clerk of the Court.

On or about September 22, 2020, Chief ODC Counsel Cipoletti filed "REPORT OF THE OFFICE OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL REGARDING THE SECOND REINSTATEMENT PETITION OF DAVID D. PERRY" with the Clerk of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. Within said "REPORT", by way of footnote (REPORT, pg 11, footnote 5) for the first time the Office of Disciplinary Counsel gave notice to Petitioner of impending objection to the validity of the independent Psychological Evaluation conducted by licensed psychologist Dr. David Fredericks, Ph.D. In said report the ODC recommended appointment of a Hearing Panel Sub-Committee to conduct a hearing within 60 days for Petitioner to present evidence on the record.

On or about September 23, 2020, the Court granted the Motion at bar and the document was entered under SEAL.

On or about November 16, 2020, a six hour proceeding was conducted before a Hearing Panel Subcommittee of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board, chaired by Gail T. Henderson Staples, Esq, at the Cabell County Courthouse, in Huntington. (Transcript of proceeding submitted to Hearing Panel Subcommittee by Office of Disciplinary Counsel on or about December 21, 2020. Petitioner has never read nor received copy of said transcript.)

On or about December 21, 2020, Chief Counsel of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel submitted "Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel's Proposed Finding of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommendation" to the Hearing Panel Subcommittee for consideration. Within Chief Disciplinary Counsel's "Conclusions and Recommendation" she stated "ODC does not believe that Dr. Frederick's evaluation complies with the 2011 Order" but shortly thereafter expressly opining that "Petitioner has met his burden of proof to be reinstated to the practice of law. In short, Petitioner has met the burden to have the opportunity to seek redemption."

On or about January 28, 2021, Chief Counsel of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel submitted "REPORT OF THE HEARING PANEL SUCOMMITTEE" to the Clerk of the Court for filing and entry into the record. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee, just as was the case in 2017, recommends Petitioner's reinstatement to the practice of law in West Virginia. Within the "REPORT" the Hearing Panel Subcommittee reasoned that "...evidence presented reflects that Petitioner has demonstrated great remorse for his previous misconduct, has acknowledged the severity of such, and appears to accept full responsibility thereof. Further, Petitioner has demonstrated a record of honorable behavior since his suspension started and gave testimony which reflected that he had come to terms with his past wrongdoing and intends to adhere to high moral standards in the future. The evidence presented by Petitioner reflects a course of conduct that would enable the Court to conclude there is little likelihood that after he is readmitted to the practice of law that he will engage in unprofessional conduct." Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Hess, 201 W.Va. 195, 495 S.E.2d 563 (1997).

The Hearing Panel Subcommittee then concluded: "Thus, based upon the underlying conduct that led to Petitioner's suspension, the witness testimony discussed herein, and the clear and convincing evidence, Petitioner has demonstrated the requisite integrity and moral character to be reinstated to the practice of law. The evidence is void of any reason the public confidence in the administration of justice would be adversely affected by the reinstatement of Mr. Perry's law license. Indeed, the primary purpose of an ethics proceeding "is not punishment but rather the protection of the public and the reassurance of the public as to the reliability and integrity of attorneys." Committee on Legal Ethics vs. Pence, 171 W.Va. 68, 74, 297 S.E.2d 843, 849 (1982).

On or about February 8, 2021, the Office of Disciplinary Counsel filed its consent to the recommendation of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee.

On or about February, 22, 2021 Petitioner filed "PETITIONER'S CONDITIONAL MOTION TO WITHDRAW REQQUEST FOR HEARING" and written consent to the recommendation of reinstatement by the Hearing Panel Subcommittee, with the Clerk of the Supreme Court.

On or about February 24, 2021, Chief Disciplinary Counsel of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel filed a motion to supplement the record in the case at bar, and a motion to seal, along with a sealed supplement. Within the sealed supplement was a report documenting results of an independent psychiatric evaluation conducted by Dr. Timothy Thistlewaite, as well as another independent psychological evaluation, this one conducted by Dr. Rosemary Smith. Said evaluations took place on January 11, 2021, in Charleston, and were facilitated, scheduled, and paid for, by the Office of Disciplinary Counsel.

On or about April 15, 2021, at a regular term of the Supreme Court of Appeals, the Court issued an Order granting the ODC motion to supplement the record and the motion to seal. Thus the supplement received on February 24, 2021 was filed under SEAL.

On or about April 15, 2021, at a regular term of the Supreme Court of Appeals, the Court issued an Order setting this matter for oral argument, despite no existing dispute between the Petitioner and the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, for a to be determined time on September 28, 2021.

#### APPLICABLE RULES AND LAW

Rule 3.30. of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, subtitled Requirements for reinstatement, states in whole; When for any reason, other than for nonpayment of membership fees, the license of any person to practice law has been or shall be suspended or annulled, whether or not for a limited time or until other requirements as to restitution, conditions, or some other act has been satisfied, such person shall not become entitled to engage in the practice of law in this State, whether such time has elapsed or such other requirements as to restitution, conditions, or some other act have been satisfied, until such person shall have been restored to good standing as a member of the West Virginia State Bar as provided herein. Any conviction for false swearing, perjury or any felony, and the person's prior and subsequent conduct shall be considered in the determination of good character and fitness.

Rule 3.32. of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, subtitled Reinstatement procedure following suspension, states in pertinent part (a) A person whose license to practice law has been or shall be suspended in this State for a period of more than three months and who shall desire reinstatement of such license, shall file a verified petition in the Supreme Court of Appeals reciting what he or she shall have done in satisfaction of requirements as to restitution, conditions, or other acts incident to the suspension, by reason of which the lawyer believes he or she should be reinstated as a member of the state bar and should have his or her license to practice law restored.

The general rule for reinstatement is that an attorney whose license is suspended or annulled carries the burden of proving he or she is fit to again commence the practice of law, and that includes a showing he or she possess the integrity, moral character, and legal competence to do so. This Court has further held that the nature of the original offense for which the Petitioner's license was suspended or annulled should also be considered in evaluating a Petition for Reinstatement. Accordingly, Petitioner must demonstrate a record of rehabilitation.

This Court holds that "[r]ehabilitation is demonstrated by a course of conduct that enables the court to conclude there is little likelihood that after such rehabilitation is completed and the applicant is readmitted to the practice of law he will engage in unprofessional conduct." Syl. Pt. 2, In re Brown, 166 W.Va. 226, 273 S.E.2d 567. This Court has further defined rehabilitation via incorporation of a five-pronged test outlined in In re Smith, 214 W.Va. 83, 85, 585 S.E, 2d 602, 604 (1980). Specifically, the Court will consider when determining rehabilitation: (1) the nature of the original offense for which the petitioner was disbarred, (2) the petitioner's character, maturity, and experience at the time of his disbarment, (3) the petitioner's occupation and conduct in the time since his disbarment, (4) the time elapsed since the disbarment, and (5) the petitioner's present competence in legal skills.

#### DISCUSSION

In preparing for oral argument, in all candor, Petitioner must examine why this Honorable Court desires to conduct said proceeding. From one respect, an argument could be made that no argument exists, at least between the parties. Simply put, in the last four years six (6) members of two separate Hearing Panel Subcommittees, four (4) separate doctors, and two (2) different attorneys with prosecutorial authority from the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, have all either recommended petitioner's reinstatement or declared him fit for duty. But yet, here we are.

At what point do the professionals enacted with the responsibility of determining Petitioner's integrity, moral character, and competence to practice law receive any deference whatsoever for their educated opinions. Moreover, if the system is designed to summarily dismiss recommendations of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, Multiple Hearing Subcommittees, and medical professionals, who are effectively in the trenches of the work at hand, then what real purpose do they serve?

From another respect, Petitioner has engaged the possibility that the record in this case is so voluminous, and such an extended period of time has elapsed since his suspension, that the very real possibility exists that this Honorable Court has important questions that need answered, and/or issues that need clarified. In that light, to appear before the Court seems logical and Petitioner welcomes such opportunity. Having said that, Petitioner will properly defer to the extensive record in this case, as necessity may dictate, during examination by the Court.

One area of possible question for the Court may possibly involve a former discrepancy between the Petitioner and Office of Disciplinary Counsel regarding "independent psychiatric examination" vs. "independent psychological evaluation." In that regard, the following breakdown is a chronological description of events between the parties related to such:

On or about June 18, 2020, immediately prior to going on the record for above-referenced sworn statement, Office of Disciplinary Chief Counsel Rachael Cipoletti first informed Petitioner that she would not submit petition for consideration until Petitioner received an updated independent psychological evaluation.

On or about June 18, 2020, immediately following completion of the above-referenced sworn statement, by Office of Disciplinary Chief Counsel Rachael Cipoletti suggested that her office could possibly arrange an evaluation with Forensic Psychologist Dr. David Clayman, Ph.D., in Charleston, before Petitioner returned to Nevada after Christmas. Calls to Dr. Clayman's office by ODC support staff that day went unreturned. Petitioner objected on multiple grounds, including, but not limited to, costs involved. Office of Disciplinary Chief Counsel Rachael Cipoletti suggested her office would absorb the costs involved and Petitioner would repay the ODC upon reinstatement.

On or about June 29, 2020, at 1:23 PST/4:23 EST, Petitioner received a telephone call from the office of Forensic Psychologist Dr. David Clayman, Ph.D., advising the Office of Disciplinary Counsel had been in touch regarding a psychological evaluation. Dr. Clayman's support staff member Ashley advised she would call Petitioner back soon to schedule appointment for the evaluation.

On or about June 29, 2020 at 1:29 PST/4:29 EST, Petitioner contacted the Office of Disciplinary Counsel by phone, again speaking with support staff, to confirm being contacted by the office of Forensic Psychologist Dr. David Clayman's office and the plan to schedule a date and time for a psychological evaluation.

On or about June 30, 2020, Petitioner forwarded correspondence to Chief Disciplinary Counsel Rachel Cipoletti, Re: INDEPENDENT Psychological Evaluation, effectively memorializing the content of the telephone conversation with ODC staff the day prior. Petitioner also took a position within the letter that if Dr. Clayman's psychological evaluation were to in fact be independent, and the prior written evaluation from Dr. Bobby Miller were inadmissible as Chief Counsel Cipoletti claimed, then submitting said prior report to Dr. David Clayman in advance of an evaluation was illogical and defeated the concept of the evaluation actually being independent.

On or about July 27 through July 30, 2020, Petitioner rented a mini-van and drove from Nevada to reside in West Virginia for what he hoped to be the duration of the reinstatement proceeding currently before the Court.

On or about August 3, 2020, Petitioner contacted the Office of Disciplinary Counsel for an update regarding the aforementioned evaluation with Forensic Psychologist Dr. David Clayman and to confirm return to the State. Petitioner was advised by ODC support staff appointment with Forensic Psychologist Dr. Clayman would be scheduled forthwith.

On or about August 10, 2020, Petitioner again contacted the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, having yet to hear from Forensic Psychologist Dr. Clayman, Ph.D., office since last contact with the ODC one week prior. Petitioner's inquiry regarding appointment with Forensic Psychologist Dr. Clayman, Ph.D., for evaluation was answered by support staff with "I'll get on that today."

On or about August 14, 2020, Petitioner contacted the office of Forensic Psychologist Dr. David Clayman, Ph.D., in Charleston, West Virginia, explained the situation, and was advised that both Dr. Clayman and his scheduling clerk/assistant were out of the office. The receptionist took my phone number and promised the scheduling clerk would contact me the next day.

On or about August 27, 2020, Chief Disciplinary Counsel forwarded a letter in response to Petitioner's prior correspondence. The letter was addressed to the Petitioner at an old Post Office Box in Huntington, later ascertained he rented thru 2015, and headed *Re: Psychological Evaluation*. The content of the letter confirmed Chief Counsel Cipoletti's intent, "as is customary" to forward a copy of the prior written evaluation of Dr. Bobby Miller to Dr. David Clayman, in advance of the independent psychological evaluation despite Petitioner's prior stated position in opposition of such. The letter indicates, at the very least, that on the date the letter was written the ODC had still planned for their preferred Forensic Psychologist David Clayman, Ph. D., to conduct an evaluation of the Petitioner

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