IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA



DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

REPLY BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806] Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel rfcipoletti@wvodc.org Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel City Center East, Suite 1200C 4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE Charleston, West Virginia 25304 (304) 558-7999 (304) 558-4015 – facsimile

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner carries a heavy burden of persuading this Honorable Court that he presently possesses the integrity, moral character and legal competence to resume the practice of law. Indeed, the more serious the nature of the underlying offense, the more difficult the task becomes for Petitioner to show a basis for reinstatement. The evidence presented by Petitioner reflects a course of conduct that would enable the Court to conclude there is little likelihood that after he is readmitted to the practice of law that he will engage in unprofessional behavior and has demonstrated the requisite integrity and moral character to be reinstated to the practice of law.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, this Honorable Court's Order set this matter for oral argument to take place on September 28, 2021.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court is the final arbiter of legal ethics problems and must make the ultimate decision about public reprimands, suspension or annulments of attorneys' licenses to practice law. Syl. Pt. 3, Committee on Legal Ethics v. Blair, 174 W. Va. 494, 327 S.E.2d 671 (1984). While the Court gives respectful consideration to the recommendations of the HPS, this Court ultimately exercises its own independent judgment regarding reinstatement:

A de novo standard applies to a review of the adjudicatory record made before the [Lawyer Disciplinary Board] as to questions of law, questions of application of the law to the facts, and questions of appropriate sanctions; this Court gives respectful consideration to the [Board's] recommendations while ultimately exercising its own independent judgment. On the other hand, substantial deference is given to the [Board's] findings of fact, unless such findings are not supported by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.

Syl. Pt. 2, <u>In re Reinstatement of diTrapano</u>, 240 W. Va. 612, 814 S.E.2d 275 (2018) (*quoting* Syl. Pt. 3, <u>Comm. on Legal Ethics v. McCorkle</u>, 192 W. Va. 286, 452 S.E.2d 377 (1994)).

V. STANDARD FOR REINSTATEMENT

The applicable rules regarding reinstatement following suspension are Rules 3.30 and 3.32 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure. Rule 3.30 provides:

Rule 3.30. Requirements for reinstatement.

When for any reason, other than for nonpayment of membership fees, the license of any person to practice law has been or shall be suspended or annulled, whether or not for a limited time or until requirements as to restitution, conditions, or some other act shall be satisfied, such person shall not become entitled to engage in the practice of law in this State, whether such time [h]as elapsed or such other requirements as to restitution, conditions, or some other act have been satisfied, until such person shall have been restored to good standing as a member of the West Virginia State Bar as provided herein. Any conviction for false swearing, perjury or any felony, and the person's prior and subsequent conduct shall be considered in the determination of good moral character and fitness.

Rule 3.32(a) provides as follows:

Rule 3.32 - Reinstatement procedure following suspension.

(a) A person whose license to practice law has been or shall be suspended in this State for a period of more than three months and who shall desire reinstatement of such license, shall file a verified petition in the Supreme Court of Appeals reciting what he or she shall have done in satisfaction of requirements as to restitution, conditions, or other acts incident to the suspension, by reason of which the lawyer believes he or she should be reinstated as a member of the state bar and should have his or her license to practice law restored. The petitioner shall also file a completed reinstatement questionnaire provided by the Office of Disciplinary Counsel. At the time of filing such petition and questionnaire with the Clerk of the Supreme Court, the petitioner shall file a copy of each with the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, which shall investigate the same and determine whether a hearing is necessary.

Petitioner was suspended indefinitely for violating Rules 1.7(b), 1.16(d), 3.5(c), 8.1(a), 8.4(c), and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The fundamental question which must be addressed is whether the attorney seeking reinstatement has shown that he presently possesses

Disciplinary Board v. Hess, 201 W.Va. 195, 495 S.E.2d 563 (1997). The Court has also defined rehabilitation in this context to mean the correction of specific, identifiable vices or illnesses which may have contributed directly to the sanction. Where the sanction resulted from no identifiable vice or illness, sufficient evidence of rehabilitation is presented by a showing that Petitioner has behaved honorably since the sanction was imposed by the Court. In re Smith, 166 W.Va. 22, 270 S.E.2d 567 (1980). Furthermore,

Rehabilitation is demonstrated by a course of conduct that enables the court to conclude there is little likelihood that after such rehabilitation is completed and the applicant is readmitted to the practice of law he will engage in unprofessional conduct.

Syl. Pt. 2, In re Brown, Id.; Syl. Pt. 3, Sayre, Id.

The burden of proof is on Petitioner to establish his case for reinstatement. <u>In re: Brown</u>, 166 W.Va. 226, 273 S.E.2d 567 (1980). The standard of proof is clear and convincing evidence.

VI. FINDINGS OF FACT

1. 2011 SUSPENSION

The Court has held in assessing an application for reinstatement "consideration must be given to the nature of the original offense for which the applicant was disbarred. Obviously, the more serious the nature of the underlying offense, the more difficult the task becomes to show a basis for reinstatement." In re Brown, 166 W. Va. 226, 273 S.E.2d 567 (1980).

The Statement of Charges issued by the Lawyer Disciplinary Board on December 3, 2010, was based upon Petitioner's conflict of interest and conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice in having several sexual conversations with his client's wife, then withdrawing from the same client's criminal case just prior to the scheduled trial date, failing to

appear in court on the withdrawal motion after the judge ordered him to appear, and making false representations to Disciplinary Counsel during the investigation. Petitioner did not contest the following facts or oppose the findings of ethical violations.¹

Christopher Cline was indicted in Mingo County, West Virginia, on January 22, 2009, on several criminal charges. Mr. Cline was incarcerated while his criminal charges were pending because he could not post bond. At first, Mr. Cline had appointed counsel, who was not Petitioner. In the later part of February of 2009, Christine Cline, later known as Christine Tidwell, contacted Petitioner by telephone about representing her then husband, Mr. Cline. Petitioner quoted a fee and, about a week later, Ms. Tidwell provided partial payment with an agreement for her to make another payment soon thereafter. On March 2, 2009, Ms. Tidwell appeared at Petitioner's office to make another additional payment. On that same day, Ms. Tidwell entered into a "Third Person Compensation Agreement" and "Employment Contract" with Petitioner. Also on March 2, 2009, Petitioner entered his "Notice of Appearance" for Mr. Cline in the criminal case. On March 4, 2009, Petitioner filed several documents in Mr. Cline's case, and sent a letter to Mr. Cline, in jail, and also to Ms. Tidwell, about taking over the case, and informing them of the documents he filed in the case. Petitioner also scheduled a meeting with Mr. Cline for March 8, 2009.

-

¹ Petitioner was present in the State of West Virginia during the investigation as evidenced by his appearance at a sworn statement on May 14, 2010. However, Petitioner left for the State of Nevada thereafter, and did not provide any updated addresses to ODC at that time. The Statement of Charges filed against Petitioner was served by publication in newspapers in West Virginia and Nevada. Respondent indicated in his sworn statement on December 19, 2016, that he received a copy of the Statement of Charges when he received the entire file on or about September 30, 2014, and this date is reflected in a September 3, 2014 letter to Petitioner indicating that his entire file would be copied and mailed to him by that date without charge. Petitioner related that he was informed by his sister of his suspension from the practice of law after a small article was in The Herald Dispatch newspaper in Huntington, West Virginia. The ODC would have sent that press release on or about December 5, 2011.

Petitioner met with Mr. Cline on March 8, 2009, to discuss the case and to have Mr. Cline sign the "Employment Contract." The day after, March 9, 2009, Petitioner filed a motion to continue the trial in Mr. Cline's case from March 24, 2009, until April 22, 2009. Petitioner also sent Mr. Cline letters about what was going on in his case. The Court denied Petitioner's motion to continue on March 13, 2009.

Between March 8, 2009, and March 16, 2009, Petitioner and Ms. Tidwell spoke on the telephone several times about legal fees. During those conversations, Petitioner made comments about Ms. Tidwell's mouth, while also asking her on several occasions about having oral sex with him, and actually masturbating during one telephone call. Thereafter, on March 16, 2009, Petitioner did appear in court for a hearing, and a brief continuance of the trial was granted by the court. Petitioner continued to file documents in Mr. Cline's case and would advise Mr. Cline when such was done. Petitioner also continued to ask for full payment of his legal fees. After several letters, Petitioner gave Mr. Cline until April 6, 2009, to make a payment or he would move to withdraw. Also on April 6, 2009, Petitioner received a telephone call from Michael Sparks, who was at that time the Prosecuting Attorney for Mingo County, West Virginia, about Ms. Tidwell recording her conversations with Petitioner. Petitioner then had a meeting with Mr. Cline in jail on April 8, 2009, about Ms. Tidwell's accusations and the failure to pay his legal fees. On April 9, 2009, Petitioner sent Mr. Cline a letter advising that he would file a motion to withdraw due to the failure to pay legal fees and a breakdown of the attorney-client relationship. Petitioner filed the motion to withdraw in Mr. Cline's case on April 10, 2009.

Mr. Cline appeared in court on April 13, 2009, for a hearing in his case. Petitioner did not appear at the hearing, and the judge noted that he had told Petitioner to appear that day for several reasons, which included the fact that Petitioner was not appearing in another court and

Petitioner had been told that there was no continuance granted in the case. The judge then reappointed Mr. Cline's former appointed counsel to represent him. Mr. Cline ended up entering a plea to a new charge filed in an information, and the other charges were dismissed on May 21, 2009.

Mr. Cline filed an ethics complaint against Petitioner on June 23, 2009. In the investigation of the complaint, Petitioner under oath denied offering oral sex to Ms. Tidwell and denied any phone sex with her. Ms. Tidwell testified during the disciplinary hearing about Petitioner offering to reduce his legal fees if she performed oral sex. Further, Ms. Tidwell stated that Petitioner had threatened to withdraw from Mr. Cline's case if she did not meet his sexual demands.² There was also testimony at the hearing from Mr. Sparks, the prosecutor, about a possible conflict for Petitioner in representing Mr. Cline regarding any potential plea offers when Petitioner's own interest in Ms. Tidwell could cloud his advice to Mr. Cline.

Petitioner violated his duties to his client, the public, the legal system, and the legal profession. A lawyer's duty of loyalty to a client includes a duty to avoid conflicts of interest. In Petitioner's case, he created a conflict under Rule 1.7(b) by his own interest in having sexual relations with his client's wife which conflicted with the interests of his client, who was incarcerated. A violation of the duty to the general public includes not engaging in dishonest misconduct. Petitioner was dishonest by the providing false representations to Disciplinary Counsel in his case. Further, lawyers are officers of the court, and must abide by the rules of substance and procedure in making sure they fulfill their duties to the legal system. Petitioner did

² A recording of telephone calls between Ms. Tidwell and Petitioner, along with a transcript of the recordings, were admitted into evidence during the disciplinary hearing. These recordings contained the conversations about Ms. Tidwell's mouth, while also asking her on several occasions about having oral sex with him, and actually masturbating during one telephone call.

not appear in Court for his client, even after being told to appear by the Judge, which certainly did not fulfill his duty to the legal system. The legal system was also affected by Petitioner's misconduct that was prejudicial to the administration of justice by having telephone conversations about sexual relations with his client's then wife while his client was incarcerated. Finally, the duty to the legal profession was violated by Petitioner when he withdrew from his client's case only a few days before the trial was scheduled, and by making false representations to Disciplinary Counsel during the investigation.

2. REINSTATEMENT HEARING

The Hearing Panel Subcommittee heard testimony from Chris Miller, David Ross, The Honorable Pancake, Dr. David Frederick, The Honorable Circuit Court Judge Hoke, The Honorable Family Court Judge Howard, and Petitioner. The hearing was conducted on November 16, 2020, at the Cabell County Courthouse. The summary of the testimony of the witnesses is as follows:

A. Chris Miller

Mr. Miller lives in Huntington, West Virginia and is the President of Dutch Miller Auto Group. Mr. Miller has known Petitioner since 2007 and they met through social channels. After Petitioner was suspended from the practice of law in 2011, he later began doing work for Mr. Miller in or about 2012. Mr. Miller testified that Petitioner has done vehicle trades, which entails trading assets to other dealerships. Mr. Miller explained that Petitioner is insured to make these asset exchanges, which requires a background check. He further stated that Petitioner has chauffeured customers and has done mystery shopping for the dealership. Mr. Miller further testified about Petitioner's charitable and giving heart and his good works in the community.

Mr. Miller believes that Petitioner should be reinstated to the practice of law and stated

that he believes that Petitioner has a desire to do good with his license if given the opportunity.

Mr. Miller testified he would use Petitioner as an attorney. [Transcript 36-52]

B. David Ross

Mr. Ross lives in Las Vegas, Nevada. He is the Founder and Director of Kid's Golf Association. Mr. Ross is Petitioner's supervisor in his position as a golf coach for the Kid's Golf Association. The KGA is a program taught in conjunction and cooperation with the Clark County School District in Las Vegas, Nevada. The program brings a golf program to the schools, thereby making learning to golf both convenient and affordable. Classes are before or after the school day and focuses on learning the fundamentals, the rules, golf etiquette and manners, golf IQ, and character builders.

Mr. Ross testified that he was aware of the circumstances that lead to Petitioner's suspension, and had no hesitation allowing Petitioner to work with the kids in his programs. Petitioner is paid \$40 an hour by Mr. Ross and he works approximately 4 days a week. He further testified that Petitioner was also a mentor to other coaches in the program. Mr. Ross said that Petitioner was an excellent employee. Mr. Ross testified that Petitioner was patient and attentive with his students and he believed that the kids learned a lot during the 6-week course with Petitioner. Mr. Ross testified that Petitioner had successfully comported his behavior to the code of conduct for his coaches. [Transcript 54-74]

C. The Honorable David M. Pancake

David M. Pancake was a judge for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, which presides over Cabell County in West Virginia. He was appointed by former Governor Cecil Underwood in 1998, and he retired from the court on January 31, 2014. Judge David Pancake lives in Huntington, West

¹ Mr. Ross's business is currently at a standstill because of COVID-19.

Virginia. Judge Pancake became a member of the West Virginia State Bar in 1971 and prior to becoming a member of the judiciary he practiced law in Huntington, West Virginia. Judge Pancake met Petitioner through his relationship with Petitioner's father and the church their families attended. Judge Pancake also testified that Petitioner was always prepared when he was practicing law in his court room.

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